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DECISION

There is cause to discipline Michelle Howell for having committed and pled guilty to the federal criminal offenses of conspiracy to commit the interstate transportation of stolen property and of money laundering.  
Procedure


On August 14, 2007, the Missouri Real Estate Commission (“the MREC”) filed a complaint seeking to establish cause to discipline Howell.  On August 20, 2007, we served Howell with our notice of complaint/notice of hearing and a copy of the complaint by certified mail.  We held our hearing on January 14, 2008.  Assistant Attorneys General Jennifer E. Gardner and Craig Jacobs represented the MREC.  Neither Howell nor anyone representing her appeared.  The case became ready for our decision on March 20, 2008.
Findings of Fact


1.
Howell held a real estate salesperson license from the MREC from October 8, 2004, until it expired on September 30, 2006.  Howell has not held a real estate salesperson license since then.

2.
On August 30, 2002, the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri (“the Court”) found Howell guilty, upon Howell’s plea of guilty, to Counts I and II of the indictment in United States v. Michelle Howell, No. 4:02CR66.


3.
Count I alleged that from January 1998 and continuing through March 17, 2001, Howell and five other persons:

did knowingly and willfully conspire, combine, confederate and agree with each other and with other persons . . . to knowingly transport, transmit and transfer in interstate commerce any goods, wares, merchandise, securities or money, of the value of $5,000 or more, knowing the same to have been stolen, converted or taken by fraud, in violation of title 18, United States Code, Section 2314.

B.
MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY

 
The defendants and co-conspirators accomplished and attempted to accomplish the objects of the conspiracy in the following manner and through the following means:


1.  At all times pertinent herein, Stations Casino St. Charles/Ameristar Casino was located in St. Charles County, Missouri.  

*   *   *


3.  At all times pertinent herein, Michelle Howell . . . resided in Illinois.

*   *   *


5.  It was part of said conspiracy that the defendants were employed at Stations Casino St. Charles, and later Ameristar Casino, as slot machine floor persons whose duties included 
paying customers of Stations Casino St. Charles/Ameristar Casino when a slot machine indicated that a customer had won a jackpot.  Defendants paid said customers from their “bank” which was a supply of currency provided to them by Stations Casino St. Charles/Ameristar Casino for said purposes.


6.  It was further part of said conspiracy that the defendants created false jackpots by adding jackpot overrides at the computer terminals located at Stations Casino St. Charles/Ameristar Casino.

7.  . . . [T]he defendants destroyed or concealed the resultant “jackpot over-ride slip” generated by the computer terminals located at Stations Casino St. Charles/Ameristar Casino in order to avoid the requirement that a supervisor sign the “jackpot over-ride slip.”


8.  . . . [T]he defendants requested a “reprint ticket” from the computer terminals located at Stations Casino St. Charles/Ameristar Casino to allow a non-supervisor to approve the false jackpot over-ride.  Said “reprint tickets” contained a yellow and a white copy.


9.  . . . [T]he defendants obtained an approval signature on the “reprint ticket” from a co-conspirator or an unwitting slot machine floorperson.


10.  . . . [T]he defendants removed cash from their “bank” and concealed it on themselves or in their belongings.


11.  . . . [T]he defendants gave the yellow copy of the “jackpot reprint” to the cashier’s cage to cause the cashier to provide sufficient funds to balance defendants’ “banks.”


12.  . . . [T]he defendants removed the previously concealed cash from the premises of Stations Casino St. Charles/Ameristar Casino and transported said cash in interstate commerce.


13.  . . . [T]he defendants misappropriated over $2,100,000 from Stations Casino St. Charles/Ameristar Casino.

4.
Count I further alleged as “overt acts” of the conspiracy that: 

· on 20 occasions Howell created a false jackpot reprint ticket and had a co-conspirator sign it or the co-conspirator created a false jackpot reprint ticket and Howell signed it;

· on one occasion Howell created a fraudulent jackpot override ticket; and

· on three occasions Howell deposited cash in joint saving or checking accounts at First Collinsville Bank in Illinois.

5.
Count II incorporated the allegations of Count I and further alleged:


2.  On or about February 9, 2001 . . . Michelle Howell, the defendant herein, knowing that the property involved in a financial transaction, to wit: the deposit of $800 in United States currency in the First Collinsville National Bank account of Anthony Brignole and Michelle Howell, represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity, conducted said financial transaction with the intent to conceal or disguise the nature, location, source, ownership or control of the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, to wit: the interstate transportation of stolen property, that is, her theft of U.S. currency . . . and her transportation of the stolen funds to Illinois to facilitate said concealment.


In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(1)(B)(i).  


6.
On August 30, 2002, the Court placed Howell on three years’ probation on each count, to run concurrently.  The Court ordered Howell to pay restitution of $2,027,185.50.

7.
On October 4, 2004, Howell submitted an application for a real estate salesperson license (“application”) to the MREC.  Howell signed the application on September 29, 2004.

8.
Section 6-13 of the application asks:

Have you been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution in this state, or any other state, or of the United States, whether or not sentence was imposed?  NOTE: This includes Suspended Imposition of Sentence, Suspended Execution of Sentence, and alcohol related offenses, i.e. DWI and BAC.  If yes, answer questions below and provide the date of the conviction and/or pleading nature of the offense, court location, and case number.

Was this a misdemeanor conviction(s) or pleading(s)?

Was this a felony conviction(s) or pleading(s)?


9.
Howell answered “no” to the three questions in § 6-13 of the application.

10.
On October 8, 2004, the MREC relied upon Howell’s statements in her application, including her answers in § 6-13, and issued Howell a real estate salesperson license.

11.
On or about November 29, 2005, the MREC learned about Howell’s guilty pleas from a newspaper article, which Howell’s supervising broker sent to the MREC.

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction of the complaint.
  The MREC has the burden to prove facts for which the law allows discipline.


The MREC contends that Howell is subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(10), (16), (18), and (19).
I.  Obtaining License by False or Fraudulent Representation

Section 339.100.2(10) authorizes discipline for:
[o]btaining a certificate or registration of authority, permit or license for himself or herself or anyone else by false or fraudulent representation, fraud or deceit[.]
Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another to act in reliance upon it.
  It requires the intent that others rely on the misrepresentation.
  We may infer fraudulent intent from the circumstances of the case.
  To “deceive” is “to cause to believe the false.”
  


Howell pled guilty to conspiracy to commit interstate transportation of stolen property (“interstate transportation”) and to money laundering on August 30, 2002.  On September 29, 2004, Howell signed and submitted an application for a real estate salesperson license in which 
she answered “no” to the question of whether she had pled guilty in any criminal prosecutions, including those by the United States.  Because Howell pled guilty 25 months before submitting the application for her license, she knew that her answer was false and intended for the MREC to rely upon it when deciding to issue her license.  The MREC did rely upon that representation when issuing her license.  Therefore, there is cause to discipline Howell under § 339.100.2(10).

II.  Plea of Guilty


Section 339.100.2(18) authorizes discipline against a licensee who:

entered a plea of guilty . . . in a criminal prosecution under the laws . . . of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated under this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]

Howell pled guilty to conspiracy to commit interstate transportation of stolen property and to money laundering on August 30, 2002.  


18 USC § 2314 states:

Whoever transports, transmits, or transfers in interstate or foreign commerce any goods, wares, merchandise, securities or money, of the value of $5,000 or more, knowing the same to have been stolen, converted or taken by fraud;
*   *   *
Shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than ten years, or both.
18 USC § 371 states:

If two or more persons conspire either to commit any offense against the United States, or to defraud the United States, or any agency thereof in any manner or for any purpose, and one or more of such persons do any act to effect the object of the conspiracy, each shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.
18 USC § 1956 states:

(a)(1) Whoever, knowing that the property involved in a financial transaction represents the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity, conducts or attempts to conduct such a financial transaction which in fact involves the proceeds of specified unlawful activity—
*   *   *

(B) knowing that the transaction is designed in whole or in part--

(i) to conceal or disguise the nature, the location, the source, the ownership, or the control of the proceeds of specified unlawful activity . . . 
*   *   *

shall be sentenced to a fine of not more than $500,000 or twice the value of the property involved in the transaction, whichever is greater, or imprisonment for not more than twenty years, or both. For purposes of this paragraph, a financial transaction shall be considered to be one involving the proceeds of specified unlawful activity if it is part of a set of parallel or dependent transactions, any one of which involves the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, and all of which are part of a single plan or arrangement.
A.  Reasonable Relationship to 
Salesperson’s Qualifications, Functions or Duties

1.  Qualifications


The qualifications for a real estate salesperson include “good moral character” and competence “to transact the business of a broker or salesperson in such a manner as to safeguard the interest of the public.”
  The offenses to which Howell pled guilty are reasonably related to these qualifications, as we explain below regarding § 339.100.2(16), which authorizes discipline for a licensee who commits acts which would be grounds for denying a license under § 339.040.  
2.  Functions or Duties

The Court of Appeals has held:

The ordinary meaning of “function” applicable here is:  “1: professional or official position: OCCUPATION, 2: the action for which a person or thing is specially fitted or used or for which a thing exists.”  The shared meaning elements of synonyms of “function” is “the acts or operations expected of a person or thing.” 
Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary, 465 (1977).  The ordinary meaning of “duty” applicable here is:  “2a: obligatory tasks, conduct, service, or functions that arise from one’s position (as in life or in a group). 3a: a moral or legal obligation.”  Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary, 355 (1977).
Section 339.010.2 provides:

A “real estate salesperson” is any person who for a compensation or valuable consideration becomes associated, either as an independent contractor or employee, either directly or indirectly, with a real estate broker to do any of the things above mentioned. . . .

The “things above mentioned” are the functions or duties of a real estate broker listed in 
§ 339.010.1:

(1) Sells, exchanges, purchases, rents, or leases real estate;

(2) Offers to sell, exchange, purchase, rent or lease real estate;

(3) Negotiates or offers or agrees to negotiate the sale, exchange, purchase, rental or leasing of real estate;

(4) Lists or offers or agrees to list real estate for sale, lease, rental or exchange;

(5) Buys, sells, offers to buy or sell or otherwise deals in options on real estate or improvements thereon;

(6) Advertises or holds himself or herself out as a licensed real estate broker while engaged in the business of buying, selling, exchanging, renting, or leasing real estate;

(7) Assists or directs in the procuring of prospects, calculated to result in the sale, exchange, leasing or rental of real estate;

(8) Assists or directs in the negotiation of any transaction calculated or intended to result in the sale, exchange, leasing or rental of real estate;

(9) Engages in the business of charging to an unlicensed person an advance fee in connection with any contract whereby the real estate broker undertakes to promote the sale of that person’s 
real estate through its listing in a publication issued for such purpose intended to be circulated to the general public;

(10) Performs any of the foregoing acts as an employee of, or on behalf of, the owner of real estate, or interest therein, or improvements affixed thereon, for compensation.

Each of these functions involves handling the property, business, or financial interests of others.  In particular, we note that a real estate salesperson regularly accepts money from prospective buyers to be held in escrow under § 339.105 and may collect rents and rental deposits for others.  The offenses to which Howell pled guilty involved a premeditated scheme to steal money from her employers for over three years and then to conceal the thefts by depositing the stolen money in a bank.  These crimes involve flagrant violations of her employers’ rights to their money and breaches of the trust that her employers placed in her.  The offenses are related to the functions or duties of a real estate salesperson.

B.  Fraud or Dishonesty 

as an Essential Element of the Offense

The MREC contends that fraud or dishonesty is an essential element of conspiracy to commit interstate transportation of stolen property and money laundering.  When interpreting statutory language practically identical to § 339.100.2(18), the Court of Appeals held:

Dishonesty or fraud must be an essential element of the crime.  In other words, the question is not whether this particular respondent 
was in fact guilty of a dishonest or fraudulent intent; rather, the question is whether the offense with which he was charged and to 
which he pleaded guilty is one necessitating proof of fraud or dishonesty-that is, always requiring that fraud or dishonesty be present as an element of the offense.

Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another to act in reliance upon it.
  Dishonesty is a lack of integrity, a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  The interstate transportation of stolen property does not always involve fraud because the statute requires that it involve only property that is “stolen, converted or taken by fraud.”
  Nevertheless, stealing and converting, as well as defrauding, always involve dishonesty.  Similarly, while the money laundering provisions of 18 USC § 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) do not necessarily involve fraud, they always involve dishonesty because they prohibit schemes designed to conceal unlawful activity.  Therefore, the offenses to which Howell pled guilty have dishonesty as an essential element.
C.  Moral Turpitude


The MREC contends that money laundering and conspiracy to commit interstate transportation of stolen property are offenses “involving moral turpitude.”  The Court of Appeals has held:
With regard to the matter of “moral turpitude,” it has been said that there are three classifications of crimes. . . .  Those classifications are (1) crimes that necessarily involve moral turpitude, such as frauds; (2) crimes “so obviously petty that conviction carries no suggestion of moral turpitude,” such as illegal parking; and (3) crimes that “may be saturated with moral turpitude,” yet do not involve it necessarily, such as willful failure to pay income tax or refusal to answer questions before a congressional committee.[
]

“Theft has been held to involve moral turpitude.”
  Conspiracy to commit interstate transportation of stolen property and the money laundering used to conceal the thefts necessarily involve moral turpitude because their ultimate goal is always to permanently deprive others of their property without consent.  Therefore, the offenses involve moral turpitude.

There is cause to discipline Howell under § 339.100.2(18) for her plea of guilty to conspiracy to commit interstate transportation of stolen property and her plea of guilty to money laundering because the crimes are reasonably related to the qualifications, functions, or duties of a real estate salesperson, have dishonesty as an essential element, and involve moral turpitude.

III.  Grounds to Refuse Issuance of the License

Section 339.100.2(16) authorizes discipline for:

[c]ommitting any act which would otherwise be grounds for the commission to refuse to issue a license under section 339.040[.]
Section 339.040 sets forth the qualifications for a real estate salesperson license:


1.  Licenses shall be granted only to persons who present . . . satisfactory proof to the commission that they:


(1) Are persons of good moral character; and


(2) Bear a good reputation for honesty, integrity, and fair dealing; and


(3) Are competent to transact the business of a broker or salesperson in such a manner as to safeguard the interest of the public.

A.  Moral Character

Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.
  “When character evidence is admissible in a civil case, proof may be made by 
reputation.  Proof may also be made by specific acts when a particular trait of character of a party is an actual issue in the suit and that trait is susceptible of proof by specific acts.  More than one specific act must be shown in order to create a logical inference as to a person’s character.”


A guilty plea is evidence of the conduct charged
 and supports a finding in a professional licensing proceeding that the licensee is guilty of such conduct.
  The guilty plea constitutes an “admission,” which the defendant may explain.
  Howell has submitted nothing to deny that she committed the crimes charged.  Therefore, we find that she committed the conduct to which she pled guilty.  

However, when the qualification at issue is “good moral character,” we must consider not only the crime per se but the circumstances under which it was committed if they are put at issue. “Good moral character” is a highly subjective judgment, not an element of a crime.  It is impossible to determine whether a crime implicates good moral character without an individualized consideration of the circumstances under which the crime was committed.  In the context of an applicant case, when the MREC proves a criminal conviction, we determine the applicant's moral character from her conduct, present reputation, evidence of any rehabilitation, and upon “a consideration and determination of the entire factual congeries.”
 

As we explained in regard to our moral turpitude analysis, these were crimes by which Howell betrayed the trust of her employers for over three years by stealing their money in a premeditated scheme involving other employees.  Howell presents no extenuating circumstances. Howell’s criminal conduct shows a lack of good moral character, which would be grounds to disqualify her from receiving a real estate salesperson’s license.  
B.  Reputation


Reputation means “the estimation in which one is generally held : the character commonly imputed to one as distinct from real or inherent character[.]”
  Reputation is a “consensus view of many people[.]”
  The MREC presented no evidence of Howell’s reputation. 

C.  Competence

Competence, when referring to occupation, is the “the actual ability of a person to perform 
in that occupation.”
  It also refers to the “disposition to use an otherwise sufficient professional ability.”
  

We set forth above the functions of a real estate salesperson.  See § 339.010.1 and .2.  In particular, a real estate salesperson regularly accepts money from prospective buyers to be held in escrow under § 339.105 and may collect rents and rental deposits for others.  An inherent part of performing these actions competently and in a manner that safeguards the interest of the public is being able or willing to perform them in a trustworthy manner.  The nature and extent of the crimes to which Howell pled guilty are sufficient grounds to refuse her a real estate salesperson license because they show that she is not competent to perform real estate transactions in a trustworthy manner.  


We conclude that there is cause to discipline Howell under § 339.100.2(16) because her conduct would serve as grounds to refuse to issue her a license under § 339.040.1(1) and (3).

III.  Any Other Conduct


Section 339.100.2(19) authorizes discipline for “any other conduct which constitutes untrustworthy, improper or fraudulent business dealings, demonstrates bad faith or 
incompetence, misconduct or gross negligence.”
  The adjective “other” means “not the same : DIFFERENT, any [other] man would have done better[.]”
  Therefore, subdivision (19) refers to conduct different from that referred to in the remaining subdivisions of § 339.100.2.  We have found that the conduct at issue is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(10), (16), and (18).  There is no “other” conduct.  Therefore, we find no cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(19).
Summary


There is cause to discipline Howell under § 339.100.2(10), (16) and (18). 


SO ORDERED on April 22, 2008.



________________________________



JUNE STRIEGEL DOUGHTY     


Commissioner
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